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FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA Lki I i

,,,,
'

1 9i -- 6,
1 4

't ‘ DESIGNATION FORM
(to he used by counsel or pro se plaintiff to indicate the category ofthe case_Pr the purpose ofassignment to the appropriate calendar)

Address ofPlaintiff: 170 S. Frazier St., Phila., PA 19143

Address of Defendant: 406 S. Walton Blvd., Bentonville, AR 72712

Place ofAccident, Incident or Transaction: Montgomery Co. PA

RELATED CASE, IFANY:

N/A N/A
Case Number: Judge: Date Terminated:

Civil cases are deemed related when Yes is answered to any of the following questions: „,,,,

l. Is this case related to property ineluded in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year Yes ry Nooipreviously terminated action in this court?

2. Does this case involve the same issue of fact or grow out of the same transaction as a prior suit Yes LI No

pending or within one year previously terrninated action in this court? /

3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any earlier Yin No Vinumbered case pending or within one year previously te • action of this court?
i vfi

4. Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, so al security ap eal, or pro se civil rights Yes\ No
case filed by the same individual? i

I certify that, to my knowledge, the within case EJ i / _jsnot lated to any ease now pending or within one r previously terminated a on in
this court except as noted above.

_DATE:November 1, 2018 ..,PA 70
Attorney-at-Law /Pro Se Plaintiff Attorney I.D. # (japplicable)

CIVIL: (Place a l in one category only)

A. Federal Question Cases: B. Diversity Jurisdiction Cases:

O 1. Indemnity Contract, Marine Contract, and All Other Contracts 0 I. Insurance Contract and Other Contracts
O 2. FELA 0 2. Airplane Personal Injury
O 3. Jones Act-Personal Injuty 0 3. Assault, Defamation

O 4. Antitrust 0 4. Marine Personal Injury
El 5. Patent El 5. Motor Vehicle Petsonal Injuty
O 6. Labor-Management Relations El 6. Other Personal Injury (Please specij5):
El 7. Civil Rights ID 7. Products Liability
r, 8.

,,,
Habeas Corpus 8. Products Liability — Asbestos

9. Securities Act(s) Cases 1:1 9. All other Diversity Cases
• 10. Social Security Review Cases (Please specify);
a 1 1 All other Federal Question Cases

(Please specify): ELSA, 29 LI,S.C. Sec. 201 et seq,

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION

(The effect ofthis certification is to remove the casefrom eligibilityfor arbitration.)

David J. Cohen,counsel of record or pro se plaintiff, do hereby certify:

it to Local Civil Rule 53,2, § 3(c) (2), that to the best ofmy knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case

the sum of $150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs:

other than monetary damages is sought..
-

DATE: November 1, 2018 (:\ PA 74070
Attontey-at-Law/Pro Se Plaintiff Attorney I.D. # (ifapplicable)

NOTE: A trial de novo will he a trial by jury only if there has been compliance with F.R.C.P. 38.

lrr. LW, CJI,VIV,I
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IN TILE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYINANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

12,71‘A\\(e.,)ka 6 vv1t-S11" •.

•.

CIVIL ACTION

v. •.

• i .....- 1-11"7 [ /
vlc.._ .1e1... ai )... NO. /

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of this court, counsel for

plaintiffshall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of

filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See § 1:03 ofthe plan set forth on the reverse

side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said

designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, subrnit to the clerk of court and serve on

the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track

to which that defendant believes the case should be assigned.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:

(a) Habeas Corpus - Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 through § 2255. ( )

(b) Social Security - Cases requesting review of a decision ofthe Secretary ofHealth
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits. ( )

(c) Arbitration - Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. ( )

(d) Asbestos - Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from

exposure to asbestos. ( )

(e) Special Management - Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are

commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by •

the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special.
management cases.)

(f) Standard Management - Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks. )

iQ Z:'\1, 1 rUAt.X J.3 awl iAi:
Date lornat-lawAttorney for

2-17)-(673-qcoSL S12,--7-- iSZO 8ce L-Q-A Q. SiketivAsil-2-60 tc-i S. CO vn

Tdephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

(Civ. 660) 10/02

?, • --1,1(0,\TI4tN L;itt
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Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan
Section 1:03 - Assignment to a Management Track

(a) The clerk ofcourt will assign cases to tracks (a) through (d) based on the initial pleading.

(b) In all cases not appropriate for assignment by the clerk of court to tracks (a) through (d), the

plaintiff shall submit to the clerk ofcourt and serve with the complaint on all defendants a case management
track designation form specifying that the plaintiffbelieves the case requires Standard Management or

Special Management. In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said

designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk ofcourt and serve on the

plaintiff and all other parties, a case management track designation form specifying the track to which that

defendant believes the case should be assigned.

(c) The court may, on its own initiative or upon -the request ofany party, change the track

assignment ofany case at any time.

(d) Nothing in this Plan is intended to abrogate or limit ajudicial officer's authority in any case

pending before that judicial officer, to direct pretrial and trial proceedings that are more stringent than those

of the Plan and that are designed to accomplish cost and delay reduction.

(e) Nothing in this Plan is intended to supersede Local Civil Rules 40.1 and 72.1, or the

procedure for random assignment ofHabeas Corpus and Social Security cases referred to magistrate judges
of the court.

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT CASE ASSIGNMENTS
(See §1.02 (e) Manageinent Track Definitions of the

Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan)

Special Management cases will usually include that class of cases commonly referred to as "complex
litigation" as that term has been used in the Manuals for Complex Litigation. The first manual was prepared
in 1969 and the Manual for Complex Litigation Second, MCL 2d was prepared in 1985. This term is

intended to include cases that present unusual problems and require extraordinary treatment. See §0.1 ofthe

first manual. Cases may require special or intense management by the court due to one or more of the

following factors: (1) large number ofparties; (2) large number ofclaims or defenses; (3) complex factual

issues; (4) large volume of evidence; (5) problems locating or preserving evidence; (6) extensive discoveiy;
(7) exceptionally long time needed to prepare for disposition; (8) decision needed within an exceptionally
short time; and (9) need to decide preliminary issues before final disposition. It may include two or more

related cases. Complex litigation typically includes such cases as antitrust cases; cases involving a large
number ofparties or an unincorporated association of large membership; cases involving requests for

injunctive reliefaffecting the operation oflarge business entities; patent cases; copyright and trademark

cases; common disaster cases such as those arising from aircraft crashes or marine disasters; actions brought
by individual stockholders; stockholder's derivative and stockholder's representative actions; class actions or

potential class actions; and other civil (and criminal) cases involving unusual multiplicity or complexity of

factual issues. See §O.22 of the first Manual for Complex Litigation and Manual for Complex Litigation
Second, Chapter 33.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

‘\\I FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

)
TANIELLE THOMAS, ) (
for herself and all others similarly situated, ) Case No.

Plaintiff, )
v. )

)
WALMART, INC. and SAM'S WEST, INC., d/b/a ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

SAM'S CLUB, )
Defendants. )

)

COLLECTIVE / CLASS ACTION COM:PLAINT

Tanielle Thomas ('Plaintiff"), by and through her undersigned counsel, hereby makes the

following allegations against Walmart, Inc. and Sam's West, Inc., d/b/a and Sam's Club

(collectively "Defendants") concerning her acts and status upon actual knowledge and concerning

all other matters upon information, belief and the investigation ofher counsel:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

Plaintiff brings this action to redress common policies and practices by which

Defendants, among other things: require hourly employees to punch-in and punch-out on

timeclocks each shift; cause their timeclocks to accept punches employees make less than 15

minutes before or after their scheduled shift start and end times, but reject punches employees

make more than 15 minutes before or after their scheduled shift start and end times; and calculate

employeesdaily work hours based on their scheduled shift start and end tirnes when their

timeclocks reject a punch. Together, Defendants' practices violate the Fair Labor Standards Act

of 1938, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. (TLSA") and the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage Act of 1968,

43 P.S. §§ 333.101, et seq. ("PMWA") by denying wages, including overtime premium wages, to
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their employees for pre- and post-shift hours they actually work.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b), which

provides that suit under the FLSA "may be maintained against any employer... in any Federal or

State court of competent jurisdiction." This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. §1331 because Plaintiff asserts a claim arising under the FLSA.

3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff s PMWA claim pursuant to

28 U.S.C. § 1367, because this claim arises from the same occurrences and transactions as

Plaintiff s FLSA claim (i.e., Defendantsfailure to pay overtime wages) and are so related to this

claim as to form part of the same case or controversy.

4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a

substantial part ofthe events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this District: Plaintiff

resides in this District, Plaintiffworked for Defendants in this District, Plaintiff suffered the losses

at issue in this District, Defendants have significant business contacts in this District, Defendants

are alleged to have engaged in the wrongful conduct at issue in this District, and actions and

omissions giving rise to Plaintiff s claims occurred in this District.

TUE PARTIES

5. Plaintiff Tanielle Thomas is an individual who resides in Philadelphia County, PA.

From April 2015 to November 2017, Ms. Thomas worked as an hourly-paid Associate for the

Sam's Club store in Willow Grove, PA. Ms. Thomas is personally familiar with, and has been

personally affected by, the policies and practices described in this Complaint and has signed and

filed a Consent Form to join this litigation. See Exhibit A.

2
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6. Defendant Walmart, Inc. ("Walmarr) is a publicly-traded, family-owned business

based in Bentonville, Arkansas. Walmart is a retail corporation that operates more than 10,000

hypermarkets, discount department stores, grocery stores and club stores in 28 countries.

Walmart is the world's largest company by revenue — over $500 billion according to the 2018

Fortune Global 500 list — as well as the largest private employer in the world with 2.3 million

employees. See hups://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Walmart (accessed Aug. 17, 2018).

7. Defendant Sam's West, Inc. ("Sam's West") is a wholly-owned Walmart subsidiary

based in Bentonville, Arkansas. Sam's West operates the Sam's Club chain of membership

warehouse stores. As ofJanuary 2018, Sam's West has 597 Sam's Club locations in 44 U.S. states,

including 24 Sam' s Club stores in Pennsylvania. See

https://www.samsclub.com/sams/shoppingtools/elubSeleetionjsp?&searchBy—State&state—PA&

requestic1-311862 (accessed Aug. 17, 2018).

8. Walmart and Sam's West do business as Sam's Club, which is a chain of

membership-only retail warehouse clubs selling thousands ofconsumer goods, from appliances to

toys.

9. Throughout the relevant period, Walmart and Sam's West have jointly owned the

Sam's Club stores in Pennsylvania and exercised operational control over all significant business

functions in these stores, including: setting and implementing the work, timekeeping and

compensation policies and practices at issue in this matter, providing training on these policies and

procedures, tracking employeeshours worked and setting and paying employees' wages.

BACKGROUND FACTS

10. Defendants employ hourly-paid Associates to work in Sam's Club stores, assist

customers, make sales, take inventory, prepare and serve food, stock shelves, clean the premises

3
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and provide excellent customer service.

11. Defendants maintain common timekeeping and cornpensation policies and

practices for all hourly-paid Associates in Sam's Club stores that include: assigning hourly-paid

Associates a daily work schedule with specific start and stop times; requiring hourly-paid

Associates to punch-in on a timeclock before starting work each day and punch-out on a timeclock

after ending work each day; causing their timeclocks to accept punches less than 15 minutes before

or after an employee's scheduled shift start and end times, but reject punches outside this 30-minute

window; allowing hourly-paid Associates to begin work more than 15 minutes before their

scheduled shift start-times and continue working more than 15 rninutes after their scheduled shift

end-tirnes while calculating their daily hours worked using their scheduled shift start and/or end

times when the timeclock rejects a punch; failing to maintain accurate, contemporaneous records

of hourly-paid Associatesunscheduled pre-and post-shift work; and failing to pay all overtime

premium wages owed for this work.

12. During her employment, Ms. Thomas was regularly scheduled to work 40 hours per

week. Ms. Thomas tried to clock-in between one and two hours before her scheduled shift start-

time to perform her job duties about every other day. On these occasions, Defendants' timeclock

rejected her punch, did not record her actual start-time, calculated her daily work hours based on

her scheduled shift start-time and failed to pay her any wages for her pre-shift work. Ms. Thomas

tried to clock-out about one hour after her scheduled shift end-time every other day. On these

occasions, Defendants' timeclock rejected her punch, did not record her actual end-time, calculated

her daily work hours based on her scheduled shift end-time and failed to pay her any wages for

her post-shift work.

4
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FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

13. Plaintiff brings her FLSA claim on an opt-in, collective basis pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

§ 216(b) for herself and all people who have worked in any Sam's Club store on a full-time (FTE

0.8 or over) hourly basis in any workweek during the rnaximum limitations period (the "FLSA

Collective"). Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this definition as necessary.

14. Plaintiff belongs to the FLSA Collective, because she has worked as an hourly

employee in a Sam's Club store during the relevant period.

15. The FLSA Collective is "similarly situated," as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 216(b),

because its rnembers worked under similar terms and conditions, in similar jobs and were subjected

to the common, Company-wide policies and practices described herein.

16. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective do not meet any test for exemption under the

FLSA.

17. Plaintiff estimates that the FLSA Collective, including both current and ex-

employees over the relevant period, may include several thousand members. The precise number

of FLSA Collective members is available from Defendantspersonnel, scheduling, time and

payroll records, and from input received from the collective group members as part of the notice

and "opt-in" process provided by 29 U.S.C. §216(b).

PENNSYLVANIA CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

18. Plaintiff brings her PMWA claim on an opt-out, class action basis pursuant to Fed.

R. Civ. P. 23 for herself and all Pennsylvania residents who have worked in any Sam's Club store

on a full-time (FTE 0.8 or over) hourly basis in any workweek during the maximum limitations

period without receiving overtime wages due for all overtime hours they worked (the "PA Class").

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this definition as necessary.
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19. Plaintiff is a member of the PA Class because she is a Pennsylvania resident who

has worked as a full-time hourly employee in a Sam's Club store during the relevant period.

20. Class treatment of Plaintiff s PMWA claim is appropriate because the PA Class

satisfies the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.

21. The PA Class is so numerous that joinder of all its members would be

irnpracticable. Sam's Club has at least several thousand employees who fit the PA Class definition,

meaning that joining all of their claims would be impracticable.

22. Plaintiff s claims are typical of the clairns belonging to the PA Class. Plaintiff is

similarly-situated to the PA Class because she worked at Sam's Club under the cornmon policies

and procedures identified above, and was denied legally-required wages for their work as a result

ofDefendantscommon course ofwrongful conduct.

23. There are material questions of law or fact common to the members ofthe PA Class

because, as discussed throughout this filing, Defendants engaged in a common course of conduct

that violated their legal rights. The legality of Defendants' policies will be demonstrated by

applying generally applicable legal principles to common evidence. Any individual questions

Plaintiff s claims present will be far less central to this litigation than the numerous common

questions of law and fact, including:

a. whether Plaintiff and the PA Class were subject to materially-
identical timekeeping and compensation policies;

b. whether Plaintiff and the PA Class were required to punch-in and
punch-out on timeclocks each shift;

c. whether Defendants cause timeclocks in Sarn's Club stores to accept
punches employees make less than 15 minutes before or after hourly
employees' scheduled shift start and end times, but reject punches
hourly employees made more than 15 minutes before or after their
scheduled shift start and end times;
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d. whether Defendants calculate hourly employeesdaily work hours
based on their scheduled shift start and end times when their
timeclocks rejected their punches;

e. whether Defendants maintain any policies or procedures to ensure

that hourly ernployees were properly paid for all hours worked;

f. whether Defendants denied Plaintiff and the PA Class overtime
premium wages owed under the PMWA; and

g. whether Defendants should be required to pay compensatory
damages, liquidated damages and/or attorneys' fees and costs, or

enjoined from continuing the wage and hour violations alleged in
this Cornplaint.

24. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately assert and protect the interests of the PA Class

because: there is no apparent conflict of interest between Plaintiff and the PA Class; Plaintiff s

counsel have successfully prosecuted many complex class actions, including state-law wage and

hour class actions, and will adequately prosecute these claims; and Plaintiffhas adequate financial

resources to assure that the interests of the PA Class will not be harmed because her counsel has

agreed to advance the costs and expenses of litigation on the Class' behalf contingent upon the

outcome of this litigation consistent with Pa. R. Prof. Conduct 1.8(0(4

25. Allowing this action to proceed as a class action will provide a fair and efficient

method for adjudication of the issues presented by this controversy because issues common to the

PA Class predominate over any questions affecting only individual mernbers; no difficulties are

likely to be encountered in the management of this litigation as a class action; and the claims

addressed in this Complaint are not too small to justify the expenses of class-wide litigation, nor

are they likely to be so substantial as to require the litigation of individual claims.

26. Allowing Plaintiff s PMWA claim to proceed as a class action will be superior to

requiring the individual adjudication of each PA Class mernber's claim, since requiring several

hundred hourly-paid employees to file and litigate individual wage claims will place an undue
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burden on the PA Class mernbers, Defendants and the Courts. Class action treatment will allow a

large number of similarly-situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum

simultaneously, efficiently and without the unnecessary duplication of effort and expenses ifthese

claims were brought individually. Moreover, as the damages suffered by each PA Class member

are relatively small, the expenses and burdens associated with individual litigation would make it

prohibitively impractical for them to bring individual claims. Further, the presentation ofseparate

actions by individual PA Class members could create a risk for inconsistent and varying

adjudications, establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants and/or substantially

impair or irnpede the ability of the PA Class members to protect their interests.

27. Allowing Plaintiff's claims to proceed in a class action setting is also appropriate

because Pennsylvania's wage laws expressly permit private class action lawsuits to recover unpaid

regular and overtime wages.

COUNT I
VIOLATION OF THE FLSA

Unpaid Overtime Wages

28. Each of the preceding paragraphs is incorporated by reference as though fully set

forth herein.

29. Defendants are "employers" as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).

30. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are "employees" as defined by 29 U.S.C. §

203(e)(1) and are not exernpt from the FLSA's protections for any reason.

31. The wages Defendants pay to Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are "wages" as

defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(m).

32. Defendants are an "enterprise engaged in commerce" within the meaning of 29
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U.S.C. § 203(s)(I)(A).

33. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) expressly allows private plaintiffs to bring collective actions to

enforce employersfailure to cornply with the FLSA's requirernents.

34. Throughout the relevant period, Defendants have been obligated to comply with

the FLSA's requirements, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members have been covered

ernployees entitled to the FLSA's protections, and Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective members

have not been exempt from receiving wages required by the FLSA for any reason.

35. 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) requires employers to pay their employees an overtime rate,

equal to at least 11/2 times their regular rate of pay, for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours per

week.

36. Defendants have intentionally violated this provision of the FLSA with respect to

the FLSA Collective by maintaining common timekeeping and compensation policies and

practices that include: assigning hourly-paid Associates a daily work schedule with specific start

and stop times; requiring hourly-paid Associates to punch-in on a timeclock before starting work

each day and punch-out on a timeclock after ending work each day; causing their timeclocks to

accept punches less than 15 minutes before or after an employee's scheduled shift start and end

tirnes, but reject punches outside this 30-minute window; allowing hourly-paid Associates to begin

work more than 15 minutes before their scheduled shift start-times and continue working more

than 15 minutes after their scheduled shift end-times; calculating hourly-paid Associates' daily

hours worked by using their scheduled shift start and/or end times when the timeclock rejects a

punch; failing to maintain accurate, contemporaneous records of hourly-paid Associates'

unscheduled pre- and post-shift work; and failing to pay all overtime premium wages owed for

this work.
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37. By engaging in this conduct, Defendants have acted with willful and/or reckless

disregard for the FLSA Collective membersrights under the FLSA.

38. Plaintiffand the FLSA Collective have been harmed as a direct and proximate result

of Defendants' unlawful conduct because they have been deprived of overtime premium wages

owed for overtime-eligible work they performed and from which Defendants derived a direct and

substantial benefit.

39. For all the reasons stated above, Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are similarly

situated individuals within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §216(b).

COUNT II
VIOLATION OF THE PMWA

Unpaid Overtime Waus

40. Each of the preceding paragraphs is incorporated by reference as though fully set

forth herein.

41. Defendants are covered employers required to comply with the PMWA's mandates.

42. Plaintiff is seeking to recover "wages" as that term is defined by the PMWA.

43. Plaintiff and the PA Class are employees entitled to the PMWA' s protections, and,

during the relevant period, were not exempt from receiving wages payable under the PMWA or

its enabling Regulations for any reason.

44. PMWA Section 4(c) requires employers to pay their employees overtime

compensation of "not less than one and one-half times the ernployee's regular rate" for all hours

worked over 40 in a given workweek. See 43 P.S. § 333.104(c).

45, Under the PMWA, overtime is calculated based on the number of hours worked in

a "workweek", defined in controlling regulations as "a period of 7 consecutive days". See 34 Pa.

Code § 231.42.
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46. Throughout the relevant period, PMWA Section 8 required Defendants to "keep a

true and accurate record of the hours worked by each employee and the wages paid to each." See

43 P.S. § 333.108.

47. The PMWA provides that "any agreement between the employer and the worker"

does not serve as a defense to civil actions brought to recover wages owed under the Act.

48, Defendants have intentionally violated these provisions of the PMWA by

maintaining comrnon timekeeping and compensation policies and practices that include: assigning

hourly-paid Associates a daily work schedule with specific start and stop times; requiring hourly-

paid Associates to punch-in on a timeclock before starting work each day and punch-out on a

tirneclock after ending work each day; causing their timeclocks to accept punches less than 15

minutes before or after an employee's scheduled shift start and end times, but reject punches

outside this 30-minute window; allowing hourly-paid Associates to begin work more than 15

minutes before their scheduled shift start-times and continue working more than 15 minutes after

their scheduled shift end-times; calculating hourly-paid Associatesdaily hours worked by using

their scheduled shift start and/or end times when the timeclock rejects a punch; failing to maintain

accurate, contemporaneous records of hourly-paid Associates' unscheduled pre- and post-shift

work; and failing to pay all overtime preinium wages owed for this work.

49. By engaging in this conduct, Defendants have acted with willful and/or reckless

disregard for Plaintiff s and the PA Class members' rights under the PMWA.

50. There is no language in the PMWA, no exception to the PMWA or its enabling

Regulations, or any applicable provision elsewhere in Pennsylvania law that permits Defendants

to avoid paying Plaintiff and the PA Class for their overtime work, so Defendants have no good
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faith justification or defense for failing to pay Plaintiff and the PA Class members all wages

mandated by the PMWA.

51. Defendantsfailure to pay Plaintiff and the PA Class all wages owed for their meal

break work violates the PMWA and has caused them to suffer economic harm.

52. Plaintiff and the PA Class members have been harmed as a direct and proximate

result of the unlawful conduct described here, because they have been deprived of overtime

premium wages owed for overtime-eligible work they performed and fi:om which Defendants

derived a direct and substantial benefit.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for an Order:

a. Certifying this matter to proceed as a collective action with respect
to Count I and as a class action with respect to Count II;

b. Approving Plaintiff as an adequate Class representative;

c. Appointing Stephan Zouras, LLP to serve as Class Counsel;

d. Finding Defendants willfully violated the applicable provisions of
the FLSA and PMWA by failing to pay all required overtime wages
to Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective and PA Class members;

e. Granting judgment in favor ofPlaintiff and the FLSA Collective and
PA Class members against Defendants, and each ofthem, jointly and

severally, on Counts 1 and 11;

f. Awarding all available compensatory damages in amounts to be
determined;

g. Awarding all available liquidated damages in arnounts to be
determined;

h. Awarding pre-judgment interest on all compensatory damages due;

i. Awarding a reasonable attorney's fee and reimbursement of all costs

and expenses incurred in litigating this action;

j. Awarding equitable and injunctive reliefprecluding the continuation
ofpolicies and practices pled in this Complaint;
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k. Awarding any further relief the Court deems just, necessary and
proper; and

1. Maintaining jurisdiction over this action to ensure Defendants'
compliance with the foregoing.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury in the above-captioned matter.

Respectfully submitted,

NwmDated:November 1, 2018 /s/ David J. Co*
David J. Cohen
STEPHAN ZOURAS LLP
604 Spruce Street

Philadelphia, PA 19106
(215) 873-4836

dcohen@stephanzouras.com

Ryan F. Stephan
James B. Zouras
STEPHAN ZOURAS, LLP
100 North Riverside, Suite 2150

Chicago, IL 60606
312-233-1550
rstenhan@steohanzouras.corn
izouras@stephanzouras.com

Counselfor Plaintiffand the Putative
Collective / Class members
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CONSENT TO JOIN COLLECTIVE ACTION

Onley v. Walmart, Inc and Sam's West, Inc. d/b/a Sam's Club
United States District Court, Eastern District of Pennsylvania

Complete and Return To:
STEPHAN ZOURAS, LLP

Attn: Sam's Club Overtime Action
100 N. Riverside, Suite 2150

Chicago, IL 60606
Phone: 312-233-1550
Fax: 312-233-1560

E-mail: Imp'ollicahajuo aL

By signing below, I affirm that I worked as a full-time hourly employee at Sam's Club in

Pennsylvania in the past three years, tried to clock-in before my scheduled shift start-time and/or
clock-out after my scheduled shift end-time, had my punches rejected by the timeclock and was

paid based on my scheduled shift times.

I consent to join this lawsuit for violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §
201 et seq.

I designate Stephan Zouras, LLP and other attorneys with whom they may associate to

represent me for all purposes of this action.

I designate the Class Representative(s) as my agent(s) to make decisions on my behalf
concerning the litigation, the method and manner of conducting this litigation, settlement, the
entering ofan agreement with Plaintiffscounsel concerning attorneys' fees and costs, and all other
rnatters pertaining to this lawsuit.

If this case does not proceed collectively, then I also consent to join any subsequent action
to assert these claims.

,---DocuSigned by:

9/11/2018

Date griTiratagr7'JO 3Aci93...

Tani el 1 e Thomas

Print Name
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